FILED 01-13-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT TWO

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2021 AP 1865-CR

KIMBERLY A. HOWELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE MANITOWOC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HONORABLE MARK R. ROHRER, PRESIDING

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

TIM PROVIS
Appellate Counsel
Bar No. 1020123
123 East Beutel Road
Port Washington, WI 53074
(414) 339-4458
Attorney for Appellant
HOWELL

##

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether the probation condition banning Mrs. Howell from continuing to serve as her grandson's guardian was constitutional and properly authorized by statute.

The court below ordered this condition at sentencing and denied a post conviction motion asking for it to be vacated.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

//

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Counsel requests publication because the opinion here is likely to apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in previous cases and therefore will clarify those rules.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Nature of the Case

This is a review of the imposition of a probation condition at sentencing and of the denial of the postconviction motion asking this condition to be vacated.

#### 2. Proceedings Below

On December 23, 2019, Mrs. Howell was arrested. (5:1). On December 26, 2019, a probable cause determination form was filed showing a court commissioner had examined the arresting officer's statements and found probable cause. (5). On that date, Mrs. Howell was released on a signature bond. (3).

On January 22, 2020, complaint number 2020 CF 60 was filed in Manitowoc County Circuit Court, charging Mrs. Howell with 3 counts of violating §948.04(1), *Wis. Stats.* (Causing Mental Harm to Child), and 2 counts of violating §948.03(2)(b), *Wis. Stats.* (Physical Abuse of Child). (2). On January 23, 2020, counsel was appointed for Mrs. Howell. (9).

On February 6, 2020. appointed counsel filed his motion to withdraw. (12). On February 7, 2020, the motion to withdraw was granted. (14). On February 28, 2020, a retained counsel gave notice of his appearance. (17).

On March 8, 2020, Mrs. Howell waived her right to a preliminary hearing. (19). On March 9, 2020, a

information, making the identical charges as in the complaint, was filed. (20).

On March 11, 2021, the parties presented a settlement agreement to the court (93:3-5). The terms of the agreement were: in exchange for the State's recommendation of a withheld sentence and 2 years probation and dismissal of counts 3 and 4 as read-ins, Mrs. Howell would enter pleas of guilty or no contest to an amended information reducing counts 1, 2 and 5 to misdemeanors. The State had no objection to Huber release. *Id.* On that date, Mrs. Howell entered a plea of no contest to the amended information. (70)(93:5-17).

After argument and Mrs. Howell's statement (93:17-44), the court proceeded to sentencing. (73) (93:45-56). At the end of sentencing, the court added a probation condition not part of the plea agreement. (93:56-57). The court ordered Mrs. Howell was prohibited from being a guardian for any child during her 2 year probationary period, including her then present guardianship over her grandchild, J.R. *Id.* 

On March 15, 2021, the proper amended information was filed. (71). On that same date, trial counsel filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief (63) and a Motion to Stay the probation condition prohibiting Mrs. Howell from acting as guardian. (64).

On March 18, 2021, the court heard the motion to stay (85) and denied it by written order on March 22, 2021. (80).

Notice of Appeal was first filed on May 11, 2021 (88) by present counsel. (87).

Upon present counsel's request, the appeal was dismissed so a postconviction motion could be filed. (107). On September 3, 2021, present counsel filed a

postconviction motion, *inter alia*, challenging the constitutionality of and the statutory authority for the probation condition prohibiting Mrs. Howell from continuing as her grandson's, J.R's, guardian during her probationary period. (106). The court below denied the motion on October 1, 2021 (110) based in part on its correspondence filed September 23, 2021. (108).

Present counsel filed the second Notice of Appeal on October 22, 2021. (111). This Court found this Notice to be timely. (118).

#### 3. Facts of the Offenses

The only judicially determined facts of the offenses were found when the court below accepted the parties stipulation at the plea hearing the facts recited in the complaint were sufficient to justify the no contest plea. (93:16-17). Briefly summarizing those facts, children in Mrs. Howell's care told police she had been mistreating them. (2:2-6).

#### ARGUMENT

I. Mrs. Howell was deprived of basic Due Process when the court below ordered the probation condition without notice or a hearing.

#### A. Standard of Review

Due Process errors are reviewed de novo. Barbara B. v. Dorian H., 2005 WI 6,  $\P 8$ , 277 Wis.2d 378.

#### B. Additional Facts

The plea agreement here nowhere included the condition terminating Mrs. Howell's guardianship over her grandson, J.R., and the court and parties understood the facts were J.R. was neither a victim of

Case 2021AP001865 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2022 Page 8 of 12

any of the charges nor was he even in Mrs. Howell's custody since he was in a foster home. (85:12-14, 16, 41-43 [stay motion hearing transcript]). The court heard no argument at sentencing about this condition. (93:56-57)

#### C. Discussion

"A fundamental guarantee of due process of law is the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.' " *Brown County v. Shannon R.*, 2005 WI 160, ¶64, 76 N.W.2d 269 (footnotes with citations omitted). It is long settled "[S]tate statutes may create liberty interests that are entitled to the procedural protections of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." *Vitek v. Jones*, 445 U.S. 480, 488, 100 S.Ct. 1254 (1980). And see *Goss v. Lopez*, 419 U.S. 565, 572-573, 95 S.Ct. 729 (1975)(citing cases).

Constitutional law provides a two part test for determining when statutory language creates a liberty interest protected by basic Due Process. See *Staples v. Young*, 149 Wis.2d 80, 84, 438 N.W.2d 567 (1989) ("Where a state regulation uses 'explicitly mandatory language in connection with requiring specific substantive predicates' for official action, a protected liberty interest is created." quoting *Hewitt v. Helms*, 459 U.S. at 472 with approval.) Explicitly mandatory language" is words "requiring that certain procedures 'shall,' 'will,' or 'must' be employed . . ." 149 Wis.2d at 85, quoting 459 U.S. at 471-472 with approval.) The second part of this test requires a showing of "specific substantive predicates for the official action [against a person]." *Id.* 

Here, §48.23, Wis. Stats., explicitly provides "a person appointed by the court to be the guardian of a child under this chapter has the duty and authority to make important decisions in matters having a

permanent effect on the life and development of the child and the duty to be concerned about the child's general welfare . . ." These duties are "including but not limited to" those specified in the subsections of the statute. It seems clear that, though the words shall, will or must are not included in the statute, it grants expansive authority to persons appointed as guardians limited only by the circumstances listed in the subsections of the statute, none of which are relevant here. Furthermore, the only "substantive predicates" for terminating any part of a guardian's authority are listed in subsection (4) and, again, do not apply here.

So, counsel submits the statute regulating guardianships creates a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause. And we all know the Due Process Clause requires, at a minimum, notice and an opportunity to be heard. See, *e.g., Wengerd v. Rhinehart*, 114 Wis.2d 575, 587, 338 N.W.2d 861 (Ct.App.1983). Here Mrs. Howell was given no notice before the criminal court imposed the probation condition terminating her guardianship and no hearing before or after it was imposed. Reversal is justified on this ground alone.

II. The probation condition ordering termination of Mrs. Howell's guardianship of her grandchild, J.R., was neither reasonable nor appropriate and so violated the governing statute.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether a statute has been properly applied is reviewed *de novo. State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, ¶13, 241 Wis.2d 754.

#### B. Discussion

The purposes of probation conditions are "to rehabilitate the defendant and protect society without placing the defendant in prison." *State v. Gray*, 225

Wis.2d 39, ¶59, 590 N.W.2d 918, 933 (1999). settled at sentencing "the trial court's responsibility [is] to look at the facts in each case independently before issuing a sentence." State v. Ogden, 199 Wis.2d 572. 544N.W.2d 574 (1996), following §973.09(1)(a), Wis. Stats. The court's 3 stated reasons for this condition (93:56) nowhere recognize the basic facts J.R. was neither a victim of any of the charges nor was he even in Mrs. Howell's custody since he was in a foster home. (85:12-14, 16, 41-43 [stay motion hearing transcript). That is to say, this condition was not protecting J.R. from Mrs. Howell since he was not in her custody and nothing in the court's stated reasons show the condition would assist in her rehabilitation. See, e.g., State v. Handley, 173 Wis.2d 838, 842-846, 496 N.W.2d 725 (Ct.App.1992). (where no facts in the record supported the ordered condition, judgment reversed).

Thus, the probation condition terminating Mrs. Howell's guardianship over her grandson violated the statutory rules and the judgment should be reversed on this ground as well.

#### Conclusion

Counsel submits the foregoing demonstrates the judgment creating the probation condition terminating Mrs. Howell's guardianship over her grandson was imposed without Due Process and furthermore was in violation of statute and so reversal and remand either for a hearing or vacation of the condition is justified.