FILED
03-24-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT TWO

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2021 AP 1865-CR

KIMBERLY A. HOWELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE MANITOWOC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HONORABLE MARK R. ROHRER, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Angelina R. Scarpelli Counsel for the Respondent Bar No. 1107645 Manitowoc County District Attorney's Office 1010 S. 8th Street, Room 325 Manitowoc, WI 54220 (920)683-4070

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether the probation condition "banning" the Defendant, Kimberly Howell from acting as a guardian as a condition of probation is constitutional and properly authorized by statute.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Respondent agrees with the Appellant's position.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the case

Case 2021AP001865 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 5 of 11

The Respondent agrees with the Appellant's Statement of the Nature of the Case.

2. Proceedings Below

The Respondent agrees with the Appellant's Statement of the Proceedings below.

3. Facts of the Offense

The respondent agrees that the only judicially determined facts of the offenses were found when the Court accepted the parties stipulation at the plea hearing of the facts recited in the complaint. The Complaint indicated that the Defendant/Appellant was a guardian of Child A (age 11) (2: 2). It also went on to say that the Defendant/Appellant admitted that she was ordered physical placement and guardianship of Child D, Child B, Child C, Child E and Child A because of a prior CPS investigation (2:5). Additionally, at the time of the plea the Defendant/Appellant admitted that she was currently receiving treatment for mental illness or disorder (93:13-14). Also, at the time of the plea hearing the Defendant/Appellant stated the she understood that the Court was not bound by the agreement and could sentence her to the maximum penalties for each of the sentences (93:8). At the time of sentencing the Defendant/Appellant admitted, "I became very stressed out and didn't know how to deal with [Child A]'s behavior. I was responsible for four other children, one of them is autistic. And I have lots of problems myself." (93:40). The Court sentenced the Defendant/Appellant as a condition of probation "that Ms. Howell not be permitted to act as a guardian of any child during the period of probation." (93:56).

ARGUMENT

I. Defendant/Appellant was not deprived of basic Due Process when the Court sentenced her to probation with a condition that she not have guardianship of any child during the period of probation.

A. Standard of Review

The Respondent admits that the Due Process errors are reviewed de novo.

B. Additional Facts

The matter was scheduled for a jury trial on February 23, 2021 pursuant to the scheduling order dated December 2, 2020. (41:1) The parties were in negotiation prior to the jury trial date and had a status conference with the Court on March 4, 2021 which had been scheduled on February 18, 2021. Then after the status conference the matter was scheduled for plea and sentencing hearing on March 11, 2021 to which a Notice of hearing was sent to the Defendant's attorney. A written plea questionnaire/waiver of rights was signed by Defendant and filed with the Court on March 11, 2021. (19:1) Said plea questionnaire advised the Defendant that the Judge is not bound by any plea agreement. (19:1) As previously stated in this brief, the Defendant was advised by the Court during the hearing on March 11, 2021 that the Court was not bound by the agreement and Defendant acknowledged that she understood (93:8).

C. Discussion

The granting of probation is a matter of grace or privilege and not a right--a disposition of probation is not a matter of right to a defendant, but instead it is a privilege extended to a defendant by the grace of the state. State v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 25, 386 Wis.2d 526, 542-43, 926 N.W.2d 742. The authority of a court to place a defendant on probation and to impose conditions of probation, like other sentencing options, is derived solely from statute/statutory authority. Probation is available only to the extent permitted by the legislature. State v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶¶ 26, 28, 386 Wis.2d 526, 543-44, 926 N.W.2d 742; *State v*. Dowdy, 2012 WI 12, ¶ 27, 338 Wis.2d 565, 578, 808 N.W.2d 691; State v. Dean, 102 Wis.2d 300, 302, 306 N.W.2d 286 (Ct. App. 1981). Section 973.09(1)(a) is the statutory authority for a court to place a defendant on probation and to impose conditions of probation. *Dowdy*, 2012 WI at ¶ 28, 338 Wis.2d at 578; Fearing, 2000 WI App at ¶ 15, 239 Wis.2d at 116.

Case 2021AP001865 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-24-2022 Page 7 of 11

In State v. Edwards, 347 Wis2d 526 the Court of Appeals held, Probation is not a sentence; it is an alternative to sentence. State v. Horn, 226 Wis.2d 637, 647, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999).Probation privilege, is a right. Edwards v. State, 74 Wis.2d 79, 83, 246 N.W.2d 109 (1976). Unlike with a maximum sentence or a penalty enhancer, there is no statutory requirement that an accused be advised of potential probation terms or conditions. Conditions of probation may infringe upon constitutional rights as long as they are not overly broad and are reasonably related to the defendant's rehabilitation. State v. Rowan, 2012 WI 60, ¶¶ 4, 10, 341 Wis.2d 281, 285-86, 292, 814 N.W.2d 854; State v. Nienhardt, 196 Wis. 2d 161, 168- 69, 537 N.W.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1995); Edwards v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 79, 84-85, 246 N.W.2d 109 (1976).

Defendant/Appellant was given notice of her plea and sentence and was given an opportunity to be heard. Pursuant to statute the Court is granted authority to place a defendant on probation and to set conditions that may infringe upon constitutional rights. (Although Respondent does not concede that being a guardian is a constitutional right). The statute does not require that the Court advise a defendant of potential terms or conditions of probation. Therefore, Defendant/Appellant was not deprived of due process rights.

II. The probation condition ordering the Defendant not be a guardian during the term of her probation was reasonable and appropriate and did not violate the governing statute.

A. Standard of Review

The Respondent agrees that the standard of review is de novo.

B. Discussion

The Circuit Court is granted power through Wis. Stat. 973.09(1)(a) to fashion terms of probation to meet the rehabilitative needs of the Defendant. See WIS. STAT. § 968.01(2) (complaint must state essential facts constituting the offense charged); WIS. STAT. § 970.02(1) (complaint furnished to defendant at initial appearance must contain possible penalties) see also WIS. STAT. § 971.03 (form of information).

The dual goals of probation are: (1) rehabilitation of the defendant/those convicted of a crime and (2) protection of a state or community interest. *State v. Schwind*, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 25, 386 Wis.2d 526, 542, 926 N.W.2d 742; *State v. Miller*, 2005 WI App 117, ¶ 11, 283 Wis.2d 465, 474, 701 N.W.2d 47. While rehabilitation is the goal of probation, judges must also concern themselves with the imperative of protecting society and potential victims-when a judge allows a convicted individual to escape a prison sentence and enjoy the relative freedom of probation, he or she must take reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing. *State v. Koenig*, 2003 WI App 12, ¶ 7, 259 Wis.2d 833, 837, 656 N.W.2d 499; *Oakley*, 2001 WI at ¶ 12, 245 Wis.2d at 460.

The reasonableness and appropriateness of a condition of probation is determined/reviewed by how well the condition effectuates/serves the dual goals/objectives of probation--the rehabilitation of the defendant and the protection of the state and community interest. *State v. Agosto*, 2008 WI App 149, ¶ 12, 314 Wis.2d 385, 393, 760 N.W.2d 415; *State v. Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis.2d 492, 502, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997).

In *State v. Oakley*, 245 Wis.2d 447 the Supreme Court of Wisconsin stated "the theory of probation contemplates that a person convicted of a crime who is responsive to supervision and guidance may be rehabilitated without placing him or in prison. This involves a prediction by the sentencing court society will not be endangered by the convicted person not being incarcerated. This is risk that the legislature has empowered the courts to take in the exercise of their discretion." The Court went on to say "Thus, when a judge allows a convicted individual to

escape a prison sentence and enjoy the relative freedom of probation, he or she must take reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing. To that end—along with the goal of rehabilitation—the legislature has seen fit to grant circuit court judges broad discretion in setting the terms of probation." In *State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 12, 245 Wis.2d 447, 460-61, 629 N.W.2d 200, the Court stressed that a court, when imposing conditions of probation, must concern themselves with the imperative of protecting society and potential victims in addition to the goal of rehabilitation of the defendant.

In State v. Rowan, 341 Wis.2d 281 the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held that the test set forth for analyzing the constitutionality of conditions of probation has two parts: "[C]onditions of probation may impinge upon constitutional rights as long as they [1.] are not overly broad and [2.] are reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation." A condition is reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation "if it assists the convicted individual in conforming his or her conduct to the law." It is also appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized probation conditions are appropriate for a particular See Edwards v. State, 74 Wis.2d 79, 83, 246 N.W.2d 109 (1976) (stating that probation "is granted with the goals of rehabilitation and protection of society in mind" and that a condition forbidding association with co-defendants "was designed for [the defendant's] rehabilitation and the protection of society"); Krebs v. Schwarz, 212 Wis.2d 127, 132, 568 N.W.2d 26 (Ct.App.1997) (finding constitutional a probation condition requiring an agent's approval for a sexual relationship on the grounds that "the condition is narrowly drawn and is reasonably related to [his] rehabilitation, as well as the protection of the public").

The Circuit Court in this case did take into consideration that the condition was not overly broad and was reasonably related to the Defendant's rehabilitation. The Circuit Court stated, "And my concern from a rehabilitation standpoint is with all these things

going on and past behaviors I don't want to set her up for potential failure by putting her in a situation where she has a difficult child and she's having to deal with – like she did with this other child—and here we go again." (85:33). Therefore, the condition of probation that Defendant/Appellant not be a guardian of any child during her period of probation is not overly broad and is in relation to the Defendant's rehabilitation and is for the protection of the community ie. children.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent requests that this Honorable Court affirm the ruling by the Circuit Court and find that in this case, the Appellant/Defendant was not denied due process as the Circuit Court need not advise a Defendant of every possible condition for probation when sentencing a Defendant.

The Respondent also request that this Honorable Court affirm the Circuit Court's condition of probation that the Appellant/Defendant not be a guardian during her term of probation as such condition of probation was narrowly drawn and is reasonably related to her rehabilitation, as well as the protection of the public.

Wherefore, the Appellant's appeal should be denied.